


Shakespeare’s Henry VIII where Buckingham sneers at
Wolsey, the son of a butcher at Ipswich, as “this butcher’s
cur”’) and, with his own transformation of Hampton Court
must have envied what Buckingham was doing at Thornbury.
He was certainly behind the accusation of treason which was,
in 1521, levelled at the Duke who was summoned to London.
What followed amounted to judicial murder, without any
really fair trial. The Duke had many supporters in London and
he had to be moved from the tower, to and from Westminster,
where his trial took place, under armed escort. He was
executed on 17 May 1521. He was buried in London, in the
Church of the Augustinian Friars which his Bohun ancestors
had founded. The Duchess of Buckingham died in London in
1530.

It was natural that so highly placed a nobleman should
employ master masons who worked on buildings commis-
sioned by the Crown; various features at Thornbury suggest
that one of these architects, who had Royal commissions at
Westminster Abbey, who knew of recent work by Robert
Janyns at Windsor Castle, and who was concerned with the
design of the new Cathedral (now “the Abbey”) at Bath was
Buckingham’s designer at Thornbury. This was William
Vertue who, with his brother Robert, who died in 1506, was
the designer both at Bath and of the splendid Henry VII
Chapel at Westminster Abbey. The projecting window lights,
semi-circular or triangular, of the eastern windows of the
Chapel at Westminster, closely resemble the “oriel” windows
of the residential southern wing at Thornbury. On their inner
sides the mullions at Thornbury bear many heraldic badges to
which the Duke’s illustrious descent entitled him. They
include the Stafford knot and the flaming axle of Woodstock,
the mantle of Brecknock, the white swan of the Bohuns and
the chained and crowned antelope of Henry I'V. The southern
range at Thornbury is of great importance in England’s early
Tudor architecture. Other fine features were the elaborate
brick chimney stacks, which have the Stafford knot among
their devices and the date 1514; in their Gloucestershire
setting they were, when set up, a rarity.

Buckingham’s plans for the frontage of the castle’s inner
buildings were most imposing, in terms of display if not in
fortified strength. The gateway with the inscription above it,
was completed and survives. But nothing remains of the room
above the gateway which may have been meant to have an
oriel window. Inside the court the private rooms of the Duke
and Duchess lay on the southern side; their northern elevation
is less than spectacular than that facing the churchyard. But
one room has a six-light two-tiered window projecting as an
obtuse triangle. Across that-yard a series of kitchens, larders
and a bakehouse is in a simpler early Tudor style. Inside the
private living quarters the lounge doorway is in the late Per-
pendicular style. In its spandrels, and elsewhere, one sees a
rich display of the third Duke’s heraldic badges. The ceilings
of these living rooms were put in during the castle’s Victorian
renovation.

ROYAL VISITORS

After Buckingham’s execution the King confiscated the
unfinished castle, and nothing more was heard of the chantry
college, with its twenty-two stalls for priests, clerks and
choristers, in 1514 set up in the chapel beyond the great hall.
The castle was the only Royal residence in the West of
England, and was available for visits by members of the
Tudor Royal Family.

The first of these visits, in 1525, was that of Henry VIII’s
eldest daughter, the Princess Mary who was, at the age of
nine, the heir to the Throne. She was on her way to Ludlow
Castle to take up the post of President of the Council of Wales.
She had a large retinue, with ladies in waiting in black velvet
gowns, several gentlemen and a minstrel in her suite, and
many servants decked out in her livery of blue and green. The
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Princess was only at Thornbury for a few days, but the large
party must have strained the available accommodation.

In August 1535 Henry VIII, and his second Queen Anne
Boleyn, were at Thornbury on a “progress” which had started
atWindsor and included Tewkesbury, Gloucester and Berkeley
Castle, also a week at Thornbury. The plan included a visit to
Bristol, butthis was cancelled as there was plague in the town.
The Mayor of Bristol sent a delegation, along with ten fat
oxen and forty sheep to help feed the Royal party. Thomas
Cromwell, the King’s Chief Secretary, was included in the
Royal retinue, and he gave the Bristol delegates a kind
reception.

More repairs were carried out to Thornbury Castle in
1547, and in 1554 Mary I restored the castle to the Stafford
family. But Henry Stafford, the late Duke’s eldest son, had to
be content with the barony of Stafford. The castle went
steadily into ruin, and much decay had occurred by 1582. The
“new building” started in 151 I was still standing, as also were
the kitchens across the inner court and the unfurnished
lodgings in the outer court. But much ruin had occurred
among the other buildings, including the hall and the chapel,
of whose above-ground appearance little is now known.
Some walkways connecting the various buildings were paved
with brick.

THE CASTLE IN RECENT TIMES

In the eighteenth century parts of the western range were
refitted as a house for the agent who looked after the Staf-
ford’s considerable estates near Thornbury and elsewhere in
Gloucestershire. In 1727 the second Earl of Stafford sold the
estate to his Catholic cousin the eighth Duke of Norfolk; the
profits of the estate went to Lord Philip Howard, the ninth
Duke’s brother, who lived at Buckenham in Norfolk. The
then agent, who supervised repairs to the castle and to the sea
wall along the estuary, senthim “pots” of sturgeon and bottles
of Bristol Hotwell Water.

Thornbury was eventually settled on the Church of Eng-
land branch of the Howard family whose main estate was at
Greystoke Castle in Cumberland. Henry Howard, who was
only twenty-two when he succeeded to the Greystoke and
Thornbury property, eventually restored the chancel of Thorn-
bury church, and in the 1850s, the residential wing of the
castle. The architect was Anthony Salvin, well known for his
restoration work on various castles, including Windsor,
Caernarvon and Dunster. He put in many new ceilings, re-
stored missing mullions, and inserted new panelling, attrac-
tive decorative ironwork which features the Stafford knot,
and the nobly coloured heraldic overmantel above the fire-
place in the lounge.

Henry Howard divided his time between Greystoke and
Thornbury, and died at Thornbury in 1875. His elder son
succeeded to Greystoke, but Thornbury went to his second
son Edward Stafford Howard who sat in Parliament and held
junior ministerial office. Later in life he became the first
Mayor of Llanelli near the home of his second wife. His son,
Sir Algar Stafford Howard, took his name from the last pre-
Conquestowner of Thornbury. He became an expert genealo-
gistand held the highestheraldic post of Garter King of Arms.
During the Second World War he arranged for the safe
storage at Thornbury of the valuable records of the College of
Arms.



